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JERRY EE. SMTH, Circuit Judge:”’

Johnny Gonzal es appeals his conviction, by a jury, of one
count of conspiracy to possess wth intent to distribute mari huana
and cocaine in violation of 21 U S.C. 88 841(a)(1l) and 846, one
count of possession of marihuana with intent to distribute in
violation of 8§ 841(a)(1), and one count of possession of cocaine

wth intent to distribute in violation of § 841(a)(1). He al so

" Local Rule 47.5.1 provides: "The publication of opinions that have no
precedential value and nerely decide particular cases on the basis of well-
settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess expense on the public and burdens
on the | egal profession.” Pursuant to that rule, the court has deternined
that this opinion should not be published.



appeal s his sentence. Finding that the evidence was sufficient to
support Gonzal es's convictions on counts one and two and that his

ot her argunents raised on appeal lack nerit, we affirm

| .

In October 1989, Patrick Huggins was arrested in Louisiana
wth fifty pounds of marihuana that he had purchased from Gonza-
| es. Since 1985, Huggins had purchased, in Austin, Texas, hun-
dreds of pounds of mari huana from Gonzal es, including single |oads
of up to 180 pounds, at $825 to $900 per pound, which Huggi ns
distributed fromhis base of operations in North Carolina. Ccca-
sionally, Huggins purchased two |oads in one nonth from Gonzal es.

When Huggi ns was arrested in 1989, Gonzal es requested that he
make a telephone call to Gonzales's co-conspirators explaining
Huggins's arrest and urged Huggins to accept responsibility for
the I oss of the marihuana in order to get Gonzal es's co-conspira-
tors "off [CGonzales's] back.” Soon thereafter, Huggins cane to
Texas and volunteered to work with the Federal Bureau of Investi-
gation (FBI) in the investigation of Gonzales. The gover nnment
agreed that Huggins's cooperation mght help himw th his pending
case in Loui siana.

Huggi ns cooperated by making controll ed purchases of cocaine
from Gonzal es and Gonzal es's partner, Donnice Estrada, and arrang-
ing to purchase a large quantity of marihuana from Gonzal es.
Additionally, in Septenber 1990, Gonzal es asked Huggins to con-
struct a hidden conpartnent in Gonzales's trailer. Huggins com
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pleted the project, constructing the conpartnent underneath the
wood- pl ank fl oor. Thereafter, Huggi ns made nunerous recordi ngs of
hi s encounters and conversations with Gonzal es and Estrada.

In the first recorded conversati on between Huggi ns and Gonza-
|l es on Septenber 27, 1990, CGonzal es of fered Huggi ns mari huana at
$825 per pound. Conzales would deliver the marihuana in Austin,
and Huggi ns woul d pay cash. Gonzal es assured Huggi ns of the qual -
ity of the mari huana and gave Huggi ns advice regardi ng how nuch
Huggi ns should charge his purported buyers in North Carolina.
Gonzales told Huggins that wwthin a week, Gonzales would receive
4,500 pounds of marihuana fromhis sources. Gonzales also stated
that he was expecting additional marihuana from "Danny" and
Danny's father, which could arrive at any tine. Gonzal es enpha-
sized that if he had to transport the mari huana to North Carolina,
the price would i ncrease to $1, 150 per pound, because Gonzal es had
to pay his drivers.

Gonzal es cautioned Huggins that Gonzal es would be in trouble
wWth his suppliers if the mari huana were seized, as it had been
when Huggi ns was arrested in Louisiana. Gonzales stated that his
suppliers would call himwhen the mari huana was about to arrive,
using their own telephone system because they did not use the
tel ephones in their own houses. Gonzales naned three of his em
pl oyees that m ght act as internediaries when Huggi ns brought the
nmoney to Gonzal es and assured Huggins that he could provide nore
mar i huana as Huggi ns desi red.

On Cctober 9, 1990, Huggi ns tape-recorded a conversation with
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Gonzal es in which Gonzales told Huggins that he had "been novin'
ounces of coke." Gonzales also admtted that he had put up his
house as collateral for a large |oad of marihuana and that the
suppliers of that load were living in his house at that tine.
Gonzal es said that he soon would be receiving $1, 000,000 wort h of
mar i huana.

In their next conversation on Cctober 11, 1990, Huggi ns asked
Gonzal es about the price of sone cocaine; Gonzal es quoted $1, 000
per ounce. (Gonzales indicated that he would arrange for Huggins
to purchase cocaine through Gonzal es's partner, Estrada, and as-
sured Huggi ns of the high quality of the cocaine.

On Cctober 14, Huggins net with Estrada and recorded their
conversation. Estrada wei ghed out twenty-eight grans of cocaine
and handed it to Huggins, who left with the cocaine and took it to
two federal drug agents, who gave him$1,000 to pay Estrada. When
Huggins returned with the noney, he inquired about the status of
t he | oad of mari huana.

Huggins next net wth Gonzales on Novenber 2, 1990. When
Huggins told Gonzales, in their recorded conversation, that
Huggi ns' s buyers had been satisfied with the cocai ne Gonzal es had
provi ded, Gonzal es offered anot her ounce for sale and stated that
he had other custonmers waiting for cocaine that Gonzal es expected
from his supplier. Gonzal es again assured Huggins of the high
quality of the cocaine, and Huggi ns took the one ounce and brought
back $1, 000 obtained fromfederal agents in order to pay Gonzal es.
At that time, CGonzal es explained that his cocai ne was brought over
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the border hidden in a tire and that thirty-four kilograns of
cocaine had been in the tire from which Huggins's purchase had
cone.

On Novenber 3, 1990, in another recorded conversation,
Huggins indicated to Estrada that he was interested in a third
ounce of cocaine, which Estrada then gave to Huggi ns. Huggi ns
agai n i nquired about the mari huana shi pnent, and Estrada i ndi cated
that Gonzal es was waiting for a shipnent in a pasture.

The next recorded conversation occurred on Novenber 5, 1990,
at the appliance dealership owned by Gonzales and Estrada in
Austi n. Huggins returned with the $1,000 paynent for the third
ounce of cocaine, which he paid to Estrada. When Gonzal es
arrived, he prom sed Huggi ns that a mari huana truck soon woul d be
com ng. Gonzales told Huggins that he had | ost a | oad when he had
been unavail able to pick up the mari huana and that he had about
twenty people waiting for a shipnent, but he assured Huggins that
Huggi ns woul d receive his share.

On Novenber 13, 1990, Huggi ns advi sed Gonzal es t hat Huggi ns's
buyers were on their way to Texas, and Gonzal es reconmended t hat
the buyers stay in Austin, because "the Feds are all in Hayes
County." In this recorded conversation, Gonzales discussed his
recent | oss of 10,000 pounds of mari huana resulting froma seizure
in Eagl e Pass, Texas, and assured Huggins that despite the |arge
sei zure, nore mari huana was forthcom ng. Gonzales offered to pay
for lodging for Huggins's buyers and conpl ai ned about his snmall
profit margin on each pound of mari huana.
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On Novenber 12, 1990, in Eagle Pass, federal agents seized
approxi mately 7,000 pounds of mari huana froma truck with a hidden
conpartnent. No other seizures had taken place at Eagle Pass in
the previous six nonths, and no other seizures were nmade during
the followi ng seven nonths. On that day, Gonzales had been
followed to a ranch outside Johnson City, Texas.

On Novenber 15, 1990, GConzales told Huggins that he would
have sone mari huana for himthat night. Gonzales, in a recorded
conversation, quoted Huggins a price of $850 per pound for what he
clainmed to be high-quality marihuana. Gonzales's wife assisted
Huggins in calculating his profit margin on his purported dea
wth the North Carolina buyers, and Gonzales offered to provide
sanpl es of the mari huana.

In the next recorded conversation on Decenber 3, 1990,
Gonzal es told Huggins that he woul d have 500 pounds of mari huana
for him Gonzal es warned Huggins not to shortchange him on the
nmoney and stated that he had a buyer in Dallas, Texas, waiting for
1, 000 pounds. Gonzales said he had two people bringing in
mari huana for him and stated that he would give Huggins a good
price because Huggins had waited so long for the shipnent. He
of fered Huggi ns a di scount, asking $850 to $875 per pound i nstead
of his usual price of $1,000 per pound.

Gonzal es di scussed the hidden conpartnent that Huggins had
constructed in Gonzales's trailer, the possibility of using a
trash conpactor to prepare marihuana for transport in the
conpartnent, and the use of trees to cover the hidden conpartnent.
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He agai n expressed his surprise to Huggins that the | arge | oad had
been sei zed, stressing that he had taken two nonths to set up the
load and that "everything was paid." Gonzales said he was
equi pped wth gas masks and canouflaged uniforns, which were
necessary for protection against the caustic soda placed on
mar i huana to di sguise the snell.

On Decenber 11, 1990, Huggins and Estrada di scussed another
possi bl e cocaine sale. Gonzales arrived, bringing the news that
he had arranged for mari huana to be shi pped to Houston, Texas, and
t hat Huggins would get the first 300 pounds. Subsequently, in a
simlarly recorded conversation on Decenber 18, 1990, Gonzales
stated that he had inspected the 4,000 pounds of nmarihuana
contained in thirty-pound bags and had arranged for 300 pounds to
be loaded into a van or pickup truck and brought to Austin.
Gonzal es rem nded Huggi ns that the agreed-upon purchase price was
$875 per pound and again conplained of his small profit margin,
bembaning his obligation to pay his enployees every week.
Gonzal es gave Huggins sanples of marihuana to show to his
pur ported buyers.

Gonzal es subsequently informed Huggins that the load from
whi ch Gonzal es had obtai ned the sanples al so had been seized. In
t he recorded conversation on Decenber 20, 1990, Conzal es i ndi cated
that he had sent Estrada to Houston for another marihuana | oad.
Gonzales said they would make the transfer near Bergstrom Air
Force Base.

On Decenber 18, 1990, police seized approximately 3,000
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pounds of mari huana contained in thirty-pound bags in a garage in
Pasadena, Texas, near Houston. No other |arge seizures had taken
pl ace in the Houston area in the precedi ng nonths.

On Decenber 19, 1990, Houston police nmaintained surveill ance
on what appeared to be the |loading of cargo from a |ocation on
Sellers Road, in Houston, to a white pickup truck owned by
Gonzal es. Upon searching the location, police uncovered
approxi mately 400 pounds of marihuana and continued to follow
Gonzal es's pickup truck, which returned to the Austin area.

David Al exander Del Rio, an indicted coconspirator who was
arrested with CGonzales, pleaded guilty to msprison of a felony
and testified against Gonzales. Del R o stated that on
Decenber 19, 1990, he was with his cousin at a hotel in Houston
when he was net by Gonzal es and Estrada. During this tinme, Del
Rio overheard a conversation in which the quantity "300" was
menti oned. Gonzal es asked Del Rioto rent a roomfor him and Del
Rio admtted that he suspected an illegal transaction, although
Gonzales called Del Rio the next norning and assured him that
not hi ng was goi ng to happen.

On Decenber 20, Del Ro net with Gonzales at the appliance
shop in Austin. Del R o discussed the |arge marihuana bust in
Houston with Gonzal es and overheard Gonzal es say to soneone el se
that he "was getting sone sonewhere else.” Estrada and Al onzo
Rodri guez, a coconspirator, left the shop and headed for Houston.

Later that evening, while at the appliance shop, Del R o
overheard that Estrada was back from Houston. Everyone in the
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shop suddenly prepared to |eave, and Del R o overheard Gonzal es
instructing Armando Dom nguez and Martin Coronado, al so
coconspirators, that they "knew what to do." Gonzales and Del Ri o
then drove to Del Valle, Texas, because Gonzales wanted to know
whet her his truck was back. Wen Gonzal es and Del Ri o approached
Gonzal es's truck, Gonzales uttered sone exclamations, expressing
hi s di smay upon seeing his truck surrounded by police officers.
As CGonzal es approached his truck, a police offer pulled in
front of him Gonzal es, Del R o, Estrada, and the others were
arrested. Pol i ce discovered a mari huana shipnment in Gonzales's

truck.

.

Gonzal es contests the sufficiency of the evidence to support
his conviction on count one, conspiracy to possess wth intent to
di stribute mari huana and cocai ne, and count two, possession wth
intent to distribute marihuana. We conclude that sufficient
evi dence supported Gonzal es's convictions on both counts.

In review ng challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence,
we nust determ ne whether a reasonable trier of fact could have
found the essential elenents of the crine beyond a reasonable

doubt . Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U S 307, 319 (1979); United

States v. Gardea Carrasco, 830 F.2d 41, 43 (5th Cr. 1987); United

States v. Bryant, 770 F.2d 1283, 1288 (5th Cr. 1985), cert.

denied, 475 U. S. 1030 (1986). W nust sustain a jury's verdict if
substantial evidence, taking the view nobst favorable to the
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governnment, supports the verdict. dasser v. United States, 315

U S 60, 80 (1942). It is not necessary that the evidence excl ude
every reasonabl e hypot hesi s of i nnocence or be whol ly inconsistent

wth every conclusion except that of guilt, United States v.

Bell, 678 F.2d 547, 549 (5th Cr. 1982) (en banc), aff'd, 462 U. S
356 (1983), and the standard is the sane whether the evidence is

direct or circunstantial, Gardea Carrasco, 830 F.2d at 44; Bryant,

770 F.2d at 1288.

A
To sustain a conspiracy conviction, the governnent nust
establish (1) that a conspiracy existed, (2) that the accused knew
of the conspiracy, and (3) that the accused know ngly and

voluntarily joined in the conspiracy. United States v. Rodriquez-

Mreles, 896 F.2d 890, 892 (5th CGr. 1990); United States V.

Gsgood, 794 F.2d 1087, 1094 (5th Gr.), cert. denied, 479 U S. 994

(1986); United States v. Vergara, 687 F.2d 57, 60 (5th Gr. 1982).

Wi | e each el enment of the conspiracy charge nmust be proved beyond
a reasonabl e doubt, no el enent need be proved by direct evidence

but may be inferred fromcircunstantial evidence. United States

v. Espinoza- Seanez, 862 F.2d 526, 537 (5th G r. 1988).

No show ng of an overt act is necessary in a drug conspiracy

prosecution. United States v. Prieto-Tejas, 779 F.2d 1098, 1103

(5th Gr. 1986); United States v. Stanley, 765 F.2d 1224, 1237

(5th CGr. 1985). A conviction may be based solely upon the
uncorroborated testinony of an acconplice if the testinony is not
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incredi ble or otherwi se insubstantial on its face. Uni ted States

v. Mreno, 649 F.2d 309, 312 (5th Cr. 1981).
The essence of a conspiracy in violation of section 846 is an

agreenent to violate the narcotics laws. Prieto-Tejas, 779 F.2d

at 1103. An express, explicit agreenent is not required, and a
tacit, nutual agreenent wth comobn design, purpose, and
understanding usually will suffice. [|d.

The evidence offered by the governnent to establish the
existence of a conspiracy included Huggins's testinony that
Gonzal es provided hi mwi th hundreds of pounds of marihuana between
1985 and 1990, Huggins's apprehension in Louisiana with fifty
pounds of nmarihuana that he had purchased from Gonzal es, and
Huggins's continuing negotiations to purchase nmarihuana from
Gonzal es. The governnent established Gonzal es's know edge of the
conspiracy through evidence, in Gonzales's own words as recorded
by Huggi ns, of Gonzal es's know edge about the mari huana trade and
about grades and prices of marihuana, and, nost inportantly, of
his own organization's nethods and practices. The gover nnment
specifically points to Gonzales's statenent that nenbers of his
organi zati on used their own phone systens, his regular paynents to
hi s enpl oyees, and his knowl edge about his organi zation's practice
of covering the mari huana with caustic soda and about the areas in
Texas where greater federal drug enforcenent existed.

Finally, the governnent established Gonzal es's participation
in the conspiracy through evidence of his continuing negotiations
wth Huggins and CGonzales's request that Huggins construct a
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hi dden conpartnent in Gonzales's trailer for use in transporting
mar i huana. The governnent al so relies upon evidence of Gonzal es's
arrest in close proximty to his associ ates and the mari huana t hat
was transported in Gonzal es's pickup truck and the statenents made
in the presence of Del R o indicating Gonzal es's know edge of, and

responsibility for, the transportati on of the mari huana.

B

Wth regard to the conspiracy to possess with intent to
distribute cocaine, the governnment presented tape-recorded
evi dence that Gonzales personally delivered one ounce of the
cocai ne and evidence that Gonzal es and Estrada sold the renaining
two ounces in concert, wth Gonzales quoting the price and
arranging for the delivery by Estrada. Gonzales indicated that he
had other custoners for the cocaine and continually assured
Huggins of its high quality. Gonzales again was famliar with the
met hods and practices of his organization in transporting cocai ne,
such as the practice of snuggling cocaine across the border in a
tire.

Finally, all of the cocaine transactions took place in the
of fice of Gonzal es and Estrada. The governnent contends that this
evidence was sufficient to show existence of a conspiracy,
Gonzales's know edge of the <conspiracy, and his voluntary
participation therein.

Gonzal es contends that his conviction cannot stand because
the testinony of Huggins and Del R o was not credible and because
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the governnent failed to present sufficient evidence beyond the
testinony to sustain its burden of proof. Wighing the evidence
and the credibility of wwtnesses is the sole province of the jury.

United States v. Martin, 790 F.2d 1215, 1219 (5th Gr.), cert.

denied, 479 U.S. 868 (1986); United States v. Davis, 752 F.2d 963,

968 (5th Cr. 1985). W will intervene and declare testinony
incredible as a matter of law only when it is so unbelievable on

its face that it defies physical laws. United States v. Lindell,

881 F.2d 1313, 1323 (5th CGr. 1989), cert. denied, 496 U S. 926

(1990); Gardea Carrasco, 830 F.2d at 44.

In this case, we do not find Huggins's or Del R 0's testinony
so unbelievable on its face that it defies physical |aws or that
the testinmony was unsupported by other evidence. Huggi ns' s
testi nony was supported and suppl enented by tape recordings of his
conversations with Gonzal es and Estrada, many of which were played
for the jury. The jury was in a unique position to hear and
eval uate Gonzal es's assertions in his conversations wth Huggi ns,
i ncl udi ng any exaggerations of his ability to obtain and deliver
mar i huana and cocai ne and the anmounts of noney he received for the
deliveries. Gonzales's contention that his exaggerations on these
counts were incredible fails in light of the jury's role as
ultimate arbiter of credibility.

Additionally, Del R o's testinobny was not so incredible as to
defy physical |aws. The governnent correctly points out that
defense counsel fully explored, in cross-examnation, Del R 0's
role in the offense and his notivation for testifying.
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We conclude that substantial evidence, viewed in the I|ight
nmost favorable to the prosecution, supported the jury's verdict in
this case. A rational trier of fact could have found that the
governnent proved the essential elenents of conspiracy ))
exi stence, knowl edge and participation )) beyond a reasonable
doubt . Therefore, we hold that sufficient evidence existed to
sustain a conviction for conspiracy to possess with intent to

di stri bute mari huana and cocai ne.

C.

To establish the offense of possession with intent to
distribute, the governnent nust prove that the defendant
(1) knowi ngly possessed the drug and (2) intended to distribute
it. United States v. Landry, 903 F.2d 334, 339 (5th Cr. 1990);

United States v. Mdlinar-Apodaca, 889 F.2d 1417, 1423 (5th Gr.

1989). Possession of a controlled substance nay be either actual
or constructive and may be proved by direct or circunstantial

evidence. United States v. Galvan-Garcia, 872 F.2d 638, 640 (5th

Cr.), cert. denied, 493 U S. 857 (1989); Gardea Carrasco, 830

F.2d at 45. Constructive possession is the know ng exercise of,
or the knowi ng power or right to exercise, dom nion and contro

over the proscribed substance. Molinar-Apodaca, 889 F.2d at 1423;

United States v. d asgow, 658 F.2d 1036, 1043 (5th Cr. 1981).

One who owns or exercises control over a notor vehicle in
which contraband is concealed may be deened to possess the

cont r aband. Landry, 903 F.2d at 339; United States v. Hernandez-
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Pal aci os, 838 F.2d 1346, 1349 (5th Gr. 1988); United States V.

Kauf man, 858 F.2d 994, 1000 (5th Cr. 1988). Intent to distribute
may be inferred from the quantity of the controlled substance.

See Kaufman, id. (holding that jury had substantial evidence of

intent to distribute where defendant possessed |arger quantity of
mari huana than ordinary wuser wuld possess for persona
consunption).

The governnent offered testinony that Gonzales owned the
white pickup truck in which police officers found a shipnent of
mari huana at the tinme of Gonzales's arrest in Houston on
Decenber 20, 1990. Gonzales's ownership of the truck is
undi sput ed. The jury reasonably could conclude from testinony
concerni ng Gonzal es's ownership of the truck that he possessed the
mar i huana. !

Wth regard to Gonzal es's know edge and intent to distribute
the mari huana, the jury heard repeated taped adm ssions from him
that he was a participant in high-volune marihuana distribution.

There was testinony and taped conversations of Huggins's

YI'n support of his argunent that sufficient evidence did not exist for
a reasonable jury to conclude that he possessed the nmari huana, Gonzal es cites
United States v. Onick, 889 F.2d 1425 (5th G r. 1989), in which we held that

t he evidence could not support a jury finding that Onick possessed illega
drugs. Onick is easily distinguished fromthe case at bar. There, police
searched a house, where they found illegal drugs. The police found Onick in

the house in a roomwhere no drugs were found. Additionally, Onick was not
carrying drugs. W stated that we will not lightly inpute dom nion or
control, and hence constructive possession, to one found in another person's
house. 1d. at 1429.

In the case at bar, the police found mari huana in a pickup truck owned
by Gonzales. The jury need not speculate in order to inpute dom nion or
control of the marihuana to him as the evidence provides a direct |ink
bet ween Gonzal es and the truck.
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negoti ations with Gonzal es to purchase a shipnent of mari huana and
evidence that provided a reasonable inference that Gonzal es went
to Houston to arrange for delivery of a shipnent of marihuana, as
he had prom sed Huggi ns he woul d. Del Rio testified concerning
certain phrases uttered by Gonzales from which the jury could
infer that Gonzal es was arranging the final mari huana deal that he
had di scussed with Huggins. Finally, when Gonzal es observed that
his truck was surrounded by police officers, he uttered
excl amations expressing his disnmay. A reasonable jury could
conclude fromthis evidence that Gonzal es know ngly possessed and
intended to distribute the mari huana.

Viewing the evidence in the light nost favorable to the
governnent, we find that a rational trier of fact could have found
that the governnent had established all essential elenents of the
crime of possession with intent to distribute beyond a reasonabl e
doubt . W hold that sufficient evidence existed to sustain

Gonzal es' s convi ction.

L1,
Gonzal es contends that the district court's refusal to ask
two specific questions during the voir dire of the jury inpaired
his ability to exercise his perenptory chall enges and chal | enges

for cause and thus constituted reversible error.? W review a

2 Defense counsel requested that the district court ask the follow ng
guesti ons:

(continued...)
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district court's failure to ask specific questions during voir

dire under an abuse of discretion standard. United States V.
&ol and, 959 F.2d 1449, 1454 (5th Gr. 1992). An abuse of
discretion will be found if the voir dire is not reasonably
sufficient to test the jury for bias or partiality. Id. The

means enployed to test inpartiality must create a reasonable
assurance that prejudice wll be discovered if present. United

States v. Sai m ento-Rozo, 676 F.2d 146 (5th Cr. 1982).

The voir dire was reasonably sufficient to test the jury for
bias or partiality. The court gave the governnent and the defense
an opportunity to explain the nature of the case. The governnent
expl ained that the defendants had been charged with participating
in a drug conspiracy.

Both attorneys indicated that certain anmounts of marihuana
and cocai ne were involved. Gonzales's counsel told the potenti al
jurors that they also would hear evidence concerning drug
possession. After the court explained that an indictnment was not
evi dence, the governnent read the indictnent to the panel nenbers.
The court instructed themon the presunption of innocence and the
governnent's burden of proof and questioned them regarding their

understanding of, and ability to apply, the presunption. The

(...continued)
Based on one of those juror's response about drug problens, |
woul d ask the court they [sic] could ask the jury if any of them
had any problenms with drugs such as in a drug conspiracy case that
may affect their ability to be fair.

And | would ask that you ask the jury if they hear evidence of

drug dealing if this would )) if they have a problemin
consi deri ng a defense.
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court questioned the entire panel regarding their ability to be
fair and inpartial and to follow the | aw given by the court at the
cl ose of the case.

The district court was correct that it already had covered
the material contained in defense counsel's proposed questions.
The panel nenbers knew the nature of the case and had been
instructed on their duty to apply the law as given by the court.
The potential jurors had nore than anple opportunity to express
any reservations concerning their ability to be fair and
i npartial. The nmeans enployed by the district court created a
reasonabl e assurance that prejudice would be discovered if

present.

| V.

Huggins testified on direct exam nation that he had built a
security door on a trailer belonging to Gonzales and had
constructed a conceal ed conpartnent underneath the center of the
trailer. Huggins described the nature of the conpartnent and its
exact location. Gonzales did not object.

Only when the governnent identified and of fered photographs
of the hidden conpartnent did Gonzal es object to the evidence on
rel evance grounds. The court overrul ed the objection, observing
that Huggins had constructed the conpartnent during what the
governnent all eged was an ongoi ng conspiracy. Gonzal es contends
on appeal that Huggins's testinony constituted evidence of an
extrinsic offense that the district court erroneously admtted in
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violation of Fed. R Evid. 404(b).3

Because defense counsel failed to object to evidence of the
hi dden conpartnent at the first available opportunity, we review
the district court's adm ssion of the evidence for plain error.

United States v. Vesich, 724 F.2d 451, 462 (5th Cr. 1984). Plain

error occurs when the evidence is so prejudicial as to underm ne
the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the trial. 1d.

The governnent urges, we think correctly, that the evidence
of the hidden conpartnent did not constitute extrinsic evidence.
An act is not extrinsic, and rule 404(b) is not inplicated, where
t he evidence of that act and the evidence of the crine charged are

inextricably intertwwned. United States v. Torres, 685 F.2d 921,

924 (5th Gr. 1982); United States v. Alenman, 592 F.2d 881, 885

(5th Cr. 1979). In Torres, we held that evidence of sanple
transactions in which the defendants sold small quantities of
cocai ne did not constitute extrinsic evidence when the governnent
denonstrated that the sanple transactions were necessary
prelimnaries to the larger cocaine sale that led to the

def endants' arrests. 685 F.2d at 924. W determ ned that

3 Rul e 404(b) provides as foll ows:

O her crimes, wongs, or acts. Evidence of other crines,
wongs, or acts is not adnmissible to prove the character of a
person in order to show action in confornmity therewith. |t nmay,
however, be admi ssible for other purposes, such as proof of
notive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, know edge,
identity, or absence of nistake or accident, provided that upon
request by the accused, the prosecution in a crimnal case shal
provi de reasonabl e notice in advance of trial, or during trial if
the court excuses pretrial notice on good cause shown, of the
general nature of any such evidence it intends to introduce at
trial
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al though the other acts occurred at different tines, they were
part of a single crimnal episode and that evidence concerning the
ot her acts was necessary to provide coherence to the governnent's
case. |d.

Huggins's construction of the concealed conpartnent at
Gonzal es's request was integral to the circunstances surrounding
what the governnent sought to prove was an ongoi ng conspiracy. In
one of the conversations recorded by Huggi ns, Gonzal es di scussed
how he planned to use the conpartnent to transport mari huana. The
governnent introduced the evidence to denonstrate Gonzales's
know edge and intent to distribute drugs, not to i npugn Gonzal es's
character. The evidence of the conceal ed conpartnent was rel evant
to the issue of an ongoi ng conspiracy and was not so prejudicial
as to undermne the fairness of Gonzales's trial. The district

court therefore did not err in admtting it.

V.

Prior to trial, Gonzales filed a notion for relief pursuant
to 18 U . S.C. 8§ 3162, stating that the governnent had violated his
right to a speedy trial under 18 U S. C. § 3161. The district
court denied the notion. Gonzal es subsequently filed a
suppl enent al motion for relief pursuant to section 3162,
specifying dates that he contended did not constitute excl udable
delay in calculating the tine before trial. The district court
deni ed Gonzales's supplenental notion. Gonzal es contends on
appeal that the district court erred in denying his notion.
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W review the facts supporting a Speedy Trial Act ruling
using the clearly erroneous standard, and the | egal concl usions de

novo. United States v. Ortega-Mena, 949 F.2d 156, 158 (5th Gr.

1991). Section 3161(c)(1l) provides in pertinent part,

In any case in which a plea of guilty is entered, the
trial of a defendant charged in an information or
indictment with the commssion of an offense shal
comence within seventy days fromthe filing date (and
maki ng public) of the information or indictnent, or from
the date the defendant has appeared before a judici al
officer of the court in which such charge is pending,
whi chever date | ast occurs.

18 U.S.C. § 3161(c)(1l) (1985).4 GConzales first appeared before
the court on Decenber 20, 1990. Over a year el apsed between the
date of Gonzales's first appearance and April 27, 1992, the date
on which his trial began.

Section 3161 provides for excludable periods of delay in
calculating the seventy-day limt. Section 3161(h)(1)(F) states
in pertinent part,

The following periods of delay shall be excluded in

conputing the tinme within which an information or an

indictment nust be filed, or in conputing the tine
wthin which the trial of any such offense nust
conmence:

Any period of delay resulting from ot her

pr oceedi ngs concer ni ng t he def endant,
including but not limted to --

* * %

4 Section 3162(a)(2) provides in pertinent part,

If a defendant is not brought to trial within the tine limt
requi red by section 3161(c) as extended by section 3161(h), the
information or indictment shall be dismissed on notion of the
def endant .

18 U.S.C. § 3162(a)(2) (1985).
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del ay resul ting from any
pretrial notion, fromthe filing of
the notion through the concl usion
of the hearing on, or other pronpt
di sposition of, such notion;

* * %
18 U.S.C. 8§ 3161(h)(1)(F) (1985). This exception applies to any

period of delay resulting fromany pretrial notion. Henderson v.

United States, 476 U S. 321, 326-27 (1986); United States V.

Gonzales, 897 F.2d 1312, 1316 (5th Gr. 1990), cert. denied, 498

U S 1029 (1991); United States v. Castellano, 848 F.2d 63, 65
(5th Gir. 1988).

The record indicates that a period of excludabl e delay caused
by to hearings on pretrial notions began on January 25, 1991, and
continued through Septenber 5, 1991. Gonzales filed a notion in
limne on Septenber 3, 1991. |In an order dated Septenber 5, 1991,
the district court reserved the notions in limne filed by all
def endants for consideration the norning of trial.

A period followwng the filing of a notion in limne is

excl udabl e under section 3161(h)(1)(F). United States v. Santoyo,

890 F.2d 726, 728 (5th Gr. 1989), cert. denied, 495 U S 959

(1990). "Pending notions will toll the trial clock indefinitely;

there i s no i ndependent requirenment that the delay attributable to

the notions nmust be "reasonabl e. ld. (quoting United States v.

Ki ngton, 875 F.2d 1091, 1109 (5th GCr. 1989)). Therefore, the
time between Gonzales's filing of his notion in |imne on
Septenber 3, 1991, and the tinme of trial on April 27, 1992, is
excludable in calculating tinme to trial under section
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3161(h)(1)(F). When that period is conbined with the excl udable
period beginning on January 25, 1991, the nonexcludable days
bet ween Decenber 20, 1990, and the date of trial total thirty-
t hr ee. Because less than seventy nonexcludable days passed
bet ween Gonzal es's first appearance and the date his trial began,
the district court did not err in denying his notion for relief

under the Speedy Trial Act.

VI .

Gonzal es argues that the district court erred in considering
the approximtely 7,000 pounds of mari huana seized at Eagle Pass
on Novenber 12, 1990, and the 3,000 pounds of marihuana seized in
Houston on Decenber 18, 1990, as relevant conduct upon which to
base his sentence.® Gonzales contends that sufficient evidence
did not exist to link himto the two transactions.

We review factual findings of the quantity of drugs involved

in a crime for clear error. United States v. Kinder, 946 F.2d

362, 366 (5th Cr. 1991); United States v. Thomas, 870 F.2d 174,

176 (5th Cr. 1989). The district court need only determne its
factual findings at sentencing by a preponderance of the evidence.

United States v. Anqulo, 927 F.2d 202, 205 (5th Cr. 1991). I n

making its findings, the district court my consider a wde

variety of evidence, not limted to anounts seized or specified in

5> Gonzales adnmitted at the sentencing hearing that he was guilty of
possessi on of the 300 pounds of nari huana that police seized fromhis truck on
Decenber 20, 1990.
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the indictnent. Thomas, 870 F.2d at 176.
The court may rely upon uncorroborated hearsay testinony.

United States v. Rodriquez, 897 F.2d 1324, 1328 (5th Gr.), cert.

deni ed, 498 U.S. 857 (1990). Neverthel ess, information used in
sentencing nust have sone indicia of reliability. Ki nder, 946
F.2d at 366. A defendant who objects to the use of information
must show that the information is materially untrue, inaccurate,

or unreliable. Id.; Anqulo, 927 F.2d at 205. The district court

is not bound to accept a defendant's own declarations, nmade with
t he purpose of reducing his sentence, about the circunstances of

his crine. United States v. Buenrostro, 868 F.2d 135, 138 (5th

Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 495 U S. 923 (1990).

The district court heard sufficient evidence to support a
finding, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Gonzal es was
responsible for the large anmobunts of marihuana seized at Eagle
Pass and in Houston. The court heard evidence that Gonzal es had
been supplying Huggins with mari huana for several years prior to
Huggins becomng an informant; tape recorded adm ssions from
Gonzal es about | arge-scale transportation of mari huana; adm ssi ons
from Gonzales, at around the tinme of the Eagle Pass and Houston
sei zures, that | oads of mari huana had been sei zed; adm ssions from
Gonzal es that he had used his house as collateral for a large | oad
of mari huana; and various adm ssions from Gonzal es placing himin
Houston at the sane tine as the large |oad of marihuana and
obt ai ning sanples of the mari huana | oad. Additionally, at the
sentenci ng hearing, an FBlI agent testified concerning Gonzales's
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adm ssions of his know edge of both seizures. We concl ude that
the district court did not err in considering the |arge |oads of
mar i huana as rel evant conduct in sentencing Gonzal es.

The judgnents of conviction and sentence are AFFI RVED
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